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Commentary of the Directors

The directors are pleased to present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of Shumba Energy 
Ltd, the “Company”, and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”, for the year ended 30 June 2017.

Incorporation

The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius on 28 August 2012 as a public company with liability limited 
by shares.

Review of activities

Main business and operations

The principal activity of the Group is the acquisition and development of highly prospective coal exploration licences in the 
Republic of Botswana. During the year, the Group has extended its business activity to include the trade of solar energy.

The Company is currently listed solely on the Botswana Stock Exchange. Following approval of its shareholders, the 
Company has cancelled its admission from the Development & Enterprise Market (“DEM”), a market operated by The 
Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, on which the Company had a secondary listing of its shares, as set out in Note 22.

Results

The results for the year are shown in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and related notes.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year under review (2016: Nil).

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2017 and at the date of this report are as follows:

Alan Mitchell Clegg 
(Chairman)

Kapildeo Joory Munesh Sharma 
(Grant) Ramnauth

Mashale Phumaphi

Thapelo Mokhathi Sipho Alec Ziga Boikobo Bashi Paya
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Commentary of the Directors

Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Company law requires the directors to prepare consolidated financial statements for each financial year which present 
fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group and the Company. In preparing those 
consolidated financial statements, the directors are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•  state whether International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
 departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements; and
•  prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
 that the Group will continue in business.

The directors have confirmed that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and the Company and to enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements 
comply with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the Financial 
Reporting Act 2004. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors

The auditors, Grant Thornton, 
have indicated their willingness 
to continue in office and and a 
resolution concerning their 
re-appointment will be proposed 
at the Annual Meeting.
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Chairman’s Report

Dear Shareholders and Investors, herewith I take pleasure on behalf of your Board of Directors in presenting for your 
consideration the audited results of Shumba Energy Limited (“Shumba” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, collectively 
referred to as the “Group”, for the 12 months operating period ended 30 June 2017, along with commentary on the operating 
environment and related outlook.

The past business year was filled with mixed sentiment in the global mining & energy sectoral environment compounded in 
the SADC region by resource nationalism extremes in some countries, in particular in Latin America and Africa. Generally, 
though, the mining and natural resources investment market remained positive even within the volatile economic 
and political environment, with precious metals (Gold & Silver) marching upward on demand for risk hedging against 
government and public debt levels, US Dollar weakness and fear of FIAT currency system failure.

Base metals stocks continued to rise on LME stock depletion, stronger than expected economic demand and continued 
significant capital inflows and massively increased exploration and development activity in the infrastructure commodities, 
energy fuels (Uranium in Africa and Oil Shales in North America) and energy storage or battery metals, all have underwritten 
this further.

The bulk commodities like the Thermal Coal and energy fuels markets where Shumba’s assets and activities are focussed 
to date, has also shown remarkable resilience with global Thermal Coal price strength being driven by the new US 
administration under Trump supporting this big sectoral employer, Asia markets continuing to develop due to base load 
power demand growth, and China closing high polluting old mines and power plants. Coking Coal for reductants in steel 
and other pyrometallurgical processes remains in high demand and at sustainably high price levels.

Regional mineral economy politics led by resource nationalism in Tanzania and South Africa in particular brought negative 
arbitrage on prospective risk investment in the sector, affecting Junior resource development company’ greatly. The Junior 
and energy fuels development market where Shumba resides in SADC has however shown resilience and remains very 
positive for your company as certain realisations have ‘kicked-in’ with both Africa’s central policy organisation, the African 
Union (AU) and its operational body the African Union Commission for Trade & Industrial Development (AUC).

Namely, that gross domestic product in all modern and developing countries correlates directly with consumption of 
energy as does life expectancy. Until a reliable, new, and reasonably priced base-load source of energy is found, fossil fuels 
are required and in Botswana case specifically Coal Resources Development is the next leg for its industrialisation and 
future sustainability in economic growth for the next 50 to 80 years. Quickly and drastically reducing the use of fossil fuels 
by a large percentage, as has been mandated by developed economies and governments, creates a serious problem for 
Africa the ‘Dark Continent’. It would have negative effects on the social welfare of so many people in particular the growing 
energy industry and related sectors and many millions more people’s lives will be threatened.

Of course, fossil fuel sources have a limited useful time span and technological advancement will ensure that we will 
not rely anymore on fossils possibly latest by 2200, which will impact only positively for shareholders and investors in 
Shumba’s current projects pipeline which will be built and operated for return on investment in an upward price trajectory 
environment and market well within this period.

We still need to develop a well-planned economic, environmental and social introduction of viable and affordable new 
energy sources and related storage technologies. This is why Shumba has already embarked on one Solar Energy project 
and will in the next period be actively researching other energy fuels, production, and storage related investments for 
potential future diversification and sustainability of your Company. We need to gradually change our social infrastructures 
and improve the lives of people and futures of whole towns, cities and region and the reason for this is not the CO2 that 
fossil fuels emit, but because there will be more efficient and less polluting ways of producing, storing and distributing 
energy developed in the next two centuries and Shumba needs to be involved at the front end as far as possible to create 
value for you, our shareholders and investors.

Last year I spoke of the ‘experts’ conversation. Nothing has changed in this area and the totally failed confidence and 
predicted collapse of the FIAT Currency system and its replacement by some other more secure exchange unit continues 
unabated. While the central banking experiment with negative interest rates seems to have gone, the tin incremental 
interest rate increases that have been imposed has still left real rates at zero to negative. This continues to underscore the 
uncertainty and as societal and political structures continue to breakdown worldwide, war cycles are ramping up across 
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the globe, with decreasing confidence in central banking and other key financial and currency based infrastructures.

Shumba will, we believe, continue to benefit from its geographical and market positioning as we move in to 2018 and 
beyond. The clear investment trend in ‘stuff’ that is physical and tradeable including infrastructure and energy related 
commodities, like Thermal Coal, Uranium, Battery metals (Cobalt & Lithium) and/or the Junior Mining Equities that 
hold such assets in strategically important areas, like Shumba in the SADC. This therefore continues to offer you, our 
shareholders and investors strong fundamentals in the Shumba business and in progressive project developments.

Your Board and in particular the founding Non-Executive members have as ever remained very closely connected with 
all aspects of the execution of the Company strategy by management and focussed in executing our clearly defined 
investment plans at local and project specific level in Botswana. The world-class delivery by management in advancement 
of the Company’s projects has been sustained without pause. Further, deployment of the Company’s financial resources 
has remained cautious and focussed on value generation.

Some key environmental features of our operating year are as follows:

•  Mixed sentiment in the global mining and energy sectoral environment compounded negatively in the SADC 
 region by resource nationalism.

•  Mining and natural resources investment markets remain positive even within the volatile economic and
 political environment and risk hedging against government and public debt levels.

•  A continuing volatile and sentiment driven investment environment compounded by central bank monetary 
 system manipulation driving mineral commodity prices steadily higher.

•  Junior Mining Company Valuations strongly positive, in particular in the precious metals, infrastructure
 commodities, energy fuels and battery metals.

•  AISC (All in Sustaining Costs) improvements, ongoing productivity initiatives and capital investment in
 technologies is also a continuing trend of management teams across the globe.

•  Mergers and acquisitions in the Junior and Mid-Cap sector continues with even higher frequency than
 2016.

•  Exploration programs, project developments, and old mines are being restarted, in particular in the base
 and precious metals commodities, but also in energy fuels (Uranium & Coal) or related energy storage
 metals (Cobalt) & mineral salts (Lithium).

•  Major thermal coal exporters globally and Chinese Thermal Coal producers continue with the closure of
 ageing and pollutive operations and are selling off others with high cash costs which bodes well for upward
 coal price trajectories in short to medium term.

•  The ongoing attractiveness of emerging energy markets like Africa and in particular SADC region where
 Shumba is in the leading position to contribute to the growing deficit of over 30GWe of electrical power
 from its planned Coal Fired generating capacity.

•  The power deficits embedded in the SADC region continues to play to Shumba’s strength in its 4.5B tonne
 asset base for our projects advance to a cross border energy supplier.
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Some of the Company’s key results and features reported are:

•  In 2017 Shumba has raised BWP17.96 million (approximately USD1.7 million), an 11% increase compared
 to 2016. The Private Placement consisted of 15,351,709 common shares of the Company (“Shares”) at a
 price of BWP 1.17 each, the prevailing market price per Share on the Botswana Stock Exchange (“BSE”).

•  Given the low Company’s share price, alternative funding/liquidity routes are being actively investigated
 and which includes the delisting of the Ccompany on the SEM (Stock Exchange of Mauritius) to remove
 the negative arbitrage being suffered from limited trading.

•  Total expenditures on Projects and Asset development increased year on year by 16% reflecting the
 accelerated development of our projects during the year and were USD 9,949,583.

•  The Group’s net assets at the end of the year were USD 8,850,946, a reduction year on year of 15% reflecting
 the higher development expenditures.

•  Cash and Cash Equivalents of the Group as at the reporting date were USD 2,473,623 a reduction year on
 year of 18%.

•  Management’s ongoing commitment and competence in the disciplined maintenance of a low-cost
 structure within the Group shown clearly in the Company’s continued advancement and maintenance of
 cash position relative to its peers.

•  The Group remains adequately funded to meet its immediate expenditure requirements in the coming
 financial year while future funding requirements are actively being pursued. 

Junior Mining Environment

In the 2017 financial year the Junior Mining & Exploration Company environment has remained positive with increasing 
upward trajectory but retains some volatility. Resource and Energy Sector junior companies globally continue to be largely 
dependent on market sentiment, commodity price outlook, and central banks actions and statements for misguidance of 
the markets, while regionally and in Africa we have the added challenge of resource nationalism by irrational governments.

Further, while the ‘Green Energy’ revolution is upon us, the gross domestic product in all modern and developing countries 
in Africa correlates directly with consumption of energy as does life expectancy. Until a reliable, new, and reasonably 
priced base-load source of energy is found, fossil fuels are required and in Botswana case specifically Coal Resources 
Development (CRD) is the next leg for its industrialisation and future sustainability in economic growth for the next 50 to 
80 years. Nowhere is more starkly shown than the Botswana government RFP (Request for Proposals) for establishment 
of a Coal to Liquids Plant.

At Shumba we continue to advance this position taking the lead in CRD and with 3 assets in the development phase we 
control most of the advanced coal projects in Botswana, including over 4.5 billion tonnes of coal for thermal energy, coal 
to liquid and exports, all of which bodes well for our further development to full energy producer.

Shumba’s business remains a long-term business and continues to be run with focus and prudent expense management 
for project value creation. Hence Shumba continues to provide protection of our shareholders’ investment and create the 
opportunity for growth and superior return on investment. We have, as you can see in the results and achievements in 
the 2017 financial year continued to make all efforts to ensure that Shumba retains the first ranking position for success.
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Established Thermal Coal Markets

Analysis of established Coal Markets has shown increase and consolidation throughout the year with prices going to 
US$105 per tonne briefly, markets like South East Asia and China which are supplied mainly by Australia, have bounced 
back with the benchmark Australian export price sustaining levels of over US$85 per tonne and they are now making 
return on capital of +US$5 to US$10 per tonne after further cost optimisation and further rescheduling of expansion plans 
and capital projects.

Heavy rainfalls have continued to hit Indonesian supplies again in 2017 and the Chinese Government continues its program 
of shutting down mines on safety and environmental concerns, these have been foundational in sustaining the price with 
some analysts predicting prices back at levels of US$110 to US$120 per tonne by mid-2018.

The IEA reported (see Reuters 2015 & 2016): “Electricity is increasing its share in total energy consumption and coal is 
increasing its share in power generation”, said Laszlo Varro, head of the gas, coal and power markets division for the IEA. 
The vast majority of the 400 GWe in power generation capacity to be added in Southeast Asia by 2040 will be coalfired. 
That will raise coal’s share of the Southeast Asian power market to 50% from currently about 32%. The GDP per capita 
will almost triple until 2040, and this is where energy demand has to step in. The IEA predicts that in Southeast Asia alone 
about 120 million people lack electricity entirely while over 270 million rely on polluting wood and dung for cooking and 
heating. “From 2013 to 2030, the IEA continues, the region’s primary energy demand will almost double or increase by at 
least 80%.” The “power pie” or electricity demand increases from 790TWh to 2.210 TWh from 2013 to 2040. That tripling in 
electricity demand will be primarily sourced from coal. Renewables will expand but are growing slower than thermal coal-
fired power generation. Coal will be the fuel of choice. The material is easily available, the cheapest source of power and 
also the safest. All major SEA countries are constructing coal-fired power plants at a breath-taking pace.

For Shumba’s what is happening closer to home in Africa is more important as it is unlikely we will enter the seaborne Coal 
market to SEA for some years yet. But as the market is still heading for a significant deficit within 3 to 5 years which will 
force prices upward to potentially unseen levels and highs. And the development picture described above mirrors what is 
required in the SADC region and Shumba has created the foundation to be ready to respond to those market needs.

As I highlighted in the past the SAPP (Southern African Power Pool) continues to hold a major net deficit of over 30GWe 
that is still growing as older power plants are closed down and/or need replacement. The urgency remains to cover this 
deficit and make industry in the SADC region competitive and sustainable as has been highlighted in the reporting period 
with much inter-governmental activity on cross border power supply arrangements and agreements which, are all in 
Shumba’s favour.

The Shumba Energy Board and Management continue to drive and sustain the strategy and with all indicators and 
assumptions are continually reviewed which underscore it. We continue to focus on tactical execution for early cashflow. 
In line with this, low cost coal production for supply to the regional industrial market and established energy producers 
directly through offtake agreements remains a point of focus. Our IPP projects are also priority, particularly at Mabesekwa.

We retain our intent to potentially in the future export onto world seaborne spot markets into the sweet spot of the 
upturn medium term, giving significantly higher than normal returns, but this continues to depend largely on the logistical 
infrastructure establishment and transport costs, but positive signs for this have emerged in the reporting period from 
regional governments and parastatals like Transnet in South Africa.

Overview of Operations

Last year I reported that management engaged KPMG in order to properly constitute in easily accessible data rooms, all legal 
and project rights of tenure, all technical work done to date, etc. for use by prospective strategic and development partners 
and inter-alia, for an independent valuation of the resource assets and projects at their current stage of development. The 
valuation includes the present value of the historic costs incurred together with an appropriate development premium, the 
value of the residual resource and the probability adjusted Mine NPVs.

I am pleased to report that this work was successfully completed and returned strong valuations for two of the company’s 
assets being Mabesekwa and Sechaba collectively, without consideration of Morupule South acquired later or Letlhakeng. 
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Sechaba Mine and SCIPP Project

Management continues to focus on timeous project execution for the Sechaba Coal Mine. The intent remains to follow 
with development of a substantial underground mine for the long-term supply consideration for a 300MWe IPP. Ultimately 
a second deeper underground mine project is envisaged in 5 to 8 years’ time for the extraction of the TBS seam purely for 
export and dependant on the available logistical infrastructure and costs to FOB at a port on the West or East Coast of 
Southern Africa.

The Project Pre-Feasibility study (“PFS”) was completed in the 2015FYR and further works have continued to advance 
detail in 2017 as follows:

•  Geotechnical designs for Boxcut access design to the MMS completed
•  Pillar design based on strength and required safety factors at different depths completed
•  Roof support design for underground workings completed
•  Geohydrological work to: Hydrogeological baseline assessment completed
•  Groundwater balance and mine inflows completed

A further Prospecting License was applied for in 2016 to the south of PL053/2005 to cover the entire coal outcrop area. 
This license PL218/2016 was issued for two years late in Q1 of 2017 financial year.

The addition of this new license increases the resources in the area of interest as follows:

•  Morupule Main Seam (MMS) – 57.4 % increase
•  Taukome Bright Seam (TBS) – 7.7% increase

The additional resources present the opportunity for a substantial opencast mine at Sechaba before the mining goes 
underground.

The project was independently valued by KPMG at US$50m at the current stage of development.

The revised market strategy for Sechaba is based upon the KPMG engagement as a Corporate Advisor. The objectives 
of this engagement were to assist Shumba in finding a Strategic Equity Partner who will invest in the SCIPP and who will 
assist in the further development the project to reach financial close.

1.  This transaction when concluded will provide a liquidity event for Shumba shareholders.

2.  It will also allow Shumba to focus on its lower cost open-cast mineable assets which are faster to bring into
 production.

3.  Thus far a suitable Partner has not been found however many discussions have been had.

4.  An alternative also being investigated is to reverse the project into an entity listed on a recognized major 
 stock exchange in exchange for shares.

Mabesekwa Mine and MEIPP Development and Studies

In the 2017 FYR JDA with Mulilo naturally terminated. The Company however, continued to invest and develop the project 
as planned and broadly in line with the schedule planned and the following progress with the project can be reported;

•  Land Board Lease for all requirements confirmed
•  Power station and Mine ESIA has been approved.
•  Infrastructure ESIA and Water Resource approved and usage licences issued.
•  Waste management licence and approval received.
•  Owners Engineer studies confirmed and EPC supplier GC&E appointed.
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Mabesekwa Mine and MEIPP Development and Studies (Continued)

•  Grid connection plans agreed with National utilities and the SAPP.
•  Mine and Process Plant BFS with resource upgrade drilling and Bulk Sampling completed.

The market strategy for Mabesekwa is based on supply of sustainable affordable energy to the SAPP in the SADC
region to:

•  Address chronic power shortages head on by supplying energy to affected countries being centrally located
 in Botswana facilitating a regional power hub within the SADC region.
•  With an easy grid connection and regional power distribution as a result of good transmission backbone.
•  Fulfill a significant portion, at least 900MWe and up to 1800MWe of the determination of requirement for
 cross border procurement of 3750MWe power to South Africa.

Morupule South Mine Project

Shumba e has within the reporting period executed its option to acquire 75% of the Morupule South Asset. The Morupule 
South Coal Project is located within the central eastern district of Botswana, directly to the south of the Morupule Colliery. 
The project has a resource of 2.45 billion tonnes of JORC compliant resources of which 380 million tonnes are in the 
measured and indicated categories. The Morupule Main seam represents 83% of the resources. 1.2 billion tonnes are 
amenable to open cut mining with initial waste to coal strip ratios of under 2 to1.

Ukwazi Mining Solutions and GEMECS have been engaged to conduct the Morupule South pre-feasibility study whose 
objective is to evaluate alternative development scenarios for an opencast mine.

Deliverables shall be:

•  Mining model
•  Option analysis
•  Option refinement
•  Mine design
•  Costing

Ecosurv has been engaged to conduct the Environmental Impact Assessment. Water Rights have been requested from 
the Government Utility and Surface Rights requested from the relevant authorities.

All of the above works are expected to be completed by end of Q1/2018 financial year. Management expects to engage 
KPMG sometime during 2018 FYR to also complete an independent valuation of Morupule South once necessary works 
underway are completed.

The market strategy for Morupule South encompasses leveraging the marketing agreement entered into with HMS Bergbau 
late in Q2/2017FYR. HMS Bergbau partnership shall be responsible for the marketing in respect of product produced at 
the mines expectedly as of 2019. This collaboration of the parties will deliver advantage of scale and combined expertise. 
Shumba’s know-how of development of coal mines in Botswana and its established trade structure with SCT combined 
with HMS Bergbau’s marketing and logistics expertise in the global coal markets, offers a solid base for further growth for 
both companies, and cements its position in Sub-Saharan Africa. Morupule South is ideally positioned to deliver into the 
large regional cement and lime production market.

Morupule South is 5km from an operational rail siding for coal exports. No need for investment in a new siding. Logistics 
is key to the regional market. Morupule South Project is closer than both the Waterbury Coalfield and the Central Basin 
Coalfield in South Africa to its target market. Major coal South African producers reducing supply to the regional market 
to focus on export. Opportunity to also transport by road to other regional consumers such as large industrial and 
metallurgical customers. Shumba aims to fast track the Project into production to target the
regional market.
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Letlhakeng Prospecting Licence No. 308/2014

Late in 2015FYR the Company was awarded the rights to a new prospecting licence for coal exploration rights in Botswana 
at Letlhakeng. The Prospecting Licence No. 308/2014 issued to Shumba for coal exploration rights over an initial period 
of 3 years.

Works completed in 2017 FYR determined five holes to the north and west of Letlhakeng were initially planned with 3 
completed, all of which intersected coal. The programme was undertaken using “Open Hole Percussion” DTH air drilling. 

The objective of the drilling was to identify:

- The presence, continuity and relative uniformity of the coal seams, and
- The minimum CV of the coal within these seams

Following the completion of 3 holes it was considered that further work on this program at this stage would be redundant 
given the depths of the coal seams, although the thickness and qualities were good.

As a reminder Letlhakeng has significant in-situ resources of carbonaceous material (Estimated 500Mt) identified in the 
area and our initial efforts were focussed on confirming the presence and structure of such resources which, indicated 
strong possibility for the application of UCG (Underground Coal Gasification) technology application at this prospect.

However, we now believe that there is potential for an underground mine based on the results as follows: 

Seam 2 averages 3.3m thick with a calorific value of approximately 18MJ/kg while Seam 4 averages 5.5m thick and has 
a calorific value approximating to 14.5MJ/kg.

These seams are clearly the most interesting as an exploration target. They are separated by a vertical distance of 
approximately 30m, hence it would be possible in an underground mine to mine both these seams given the upper was 
mined out first.

It can be expected that Seam 2, if sampled by coring, would exceed these inferred coal qualities. It is probable that a Run-
of-Mine product suitable for direct firing in a power station is available, while the possibility exists with suitable processing 
to produce an export quality coal product. 

Further works will now be planned for execution subject to future development funding.

Strategic Business Development

The core strategy of the Company remains unchanged, i.e. the focus on acquisition and development of highly prospective 
coal exploration licenses in Botswana and our objective is to develop the production and sustainable supply of thermal 
coal from these for supply to both domestic spot markets for third parties and for own use in our IPP’s. In the longer term 
we may also supply sea-borne export markets dependent on price and logistical corridors developments.

With the ongoing accelerating development of Mabesekwa for our first IPP to supply the now established cross border 
market and with an established project valuation, with Sechaba stage works completed and fully valued, and the Morupule 
South Option exercised for development of the mine to supply to spot markets and potentially the local utility, the strategic 
future of Shumba has been further enhanced.

The potential now established UG mine based future at Letlhakeng also remains to be developed further which, with 
suitable experienced development partners yet to be selected should we hope gain further traction in the upcoming 
2017/2019 period.
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Strategic Business Development (Continued)

Since the completion of the financial year end the following additional developments have occurred and which will be 
reported upon in more detail in the new reporting period.

1.  Approval for the cancellation of admission of Shumba Energy Ltd from the SEM (Stock Exchange of Mauritius)  
 DEM (Development & Enterprise Market).
2.  Shumba strategic partnership with Fraser Alexander for its Coal Processing and Tailings Management solutions.
3.  Shumba strategic partnership with Basil Read Mining for contract Mining of its Coal Reserves.
4.  Shumba Coal Trading division has commenced trial coal shipments to potential customers in the region
 with the intention of entering into long term coal supply agreements.

On behalf of the Board and Management I offer our continuous appreciation and sincere regard for the ongoing support 
shown by you, our shareholders and investors new and old alike in the challenging world and environment we find ourselves 
continuing in.

We look forward to another year of real value growth and realisation of a share value improvement now that the arbitrage 
from the SEM listing has been removed and through the solid and continued execution within our sustained philosophy of 
“Saying what we will do and doing what we have said we will do!”

Take care.

..............................................................................................................
ALAN M. CLEGG Pr. Eng Pr.CPM PMP FSAIMM F.Inst.D
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
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Company Profile

Shumba Coal Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated on 28 August 2012 as a public company limited by shares and 
is primarily listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange (“BSE”) and listed on the Development and Enterprise Market (“DEM”) 
of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”), the secondary listing. The Company changed iis anem to Shumba Energy Ltd 
on 22 October 2015. The principal activity of Shumba Energy Ltd, Shumba Resources Limited, Sechaba Natural Resources 
(Pty) Limited and Shumba Coal Trading Ltd, collectively (the “Group”), is to acquire and develop highly prospective coal 
exploration licences in Botswana in the mineral and exploration sector.

Constitution of the Company

The Company has revised its constitution by special resolution of shareholders on 22 May 2015.

Stated capital

The stated capital of the Company as at 30 June 2017 amounted to USD 14,497,244 (2016: USD 12,745,002) and the 
number of ordinary shares in issue was 263,290,637 (2016: USD 247,565,428) The ordinary shares are no par value shares.

Statement of compliance

The Board endorses the code of corporate practices and conduct as set out in the Code of Corporate Governance for 
Mauritius (the “Code”).

The disclosures included in this review are consistent with the requirements of the Code. The directors ensure that they 
are fully conversant with best practice and current thinking with regard to corporate governance.

Holding structure

Institutional 
and Individual

Investors

Shumba 
Energy Ltd 

100%

Shumba 
Resources Ltd

100%

Sechaba Natural 
Resources 

90%

Shumba Coal 
Trading Ltd 100%
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Shareholders’ agreement

There was no shareholders’ agreement in place as at 30 June 2017.

Calendar of important events

The next financial year will run for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.
The next Annual Meeting will be held in December 2017.

Dividend income

The Company has not adopted any dividend policy as it is still at its initial and prospecting stage and is therefore not 
generating any income.

Board of directors

The Board of directors is the link between the Company and its stakeholders and board members are collectively 
responsible to lead and control the Company to enable it to attain its strategic objectives. The Board of directors also 
plays a vital role to ensure that the Company’s business is conducted with the highest ethical standards and in conformity 
with applicable laws and regulations.

Name of Director

Shareholder name

Shumba Coal
Trading Ltd

Percentage 
Holding

Sechaba Natural
Resources (Pty) 
Limited

Number of 
shares

Shumba
Resources
Limited

Shumba
Energy
Limited

Common Directorship as at 30 June 2017

Details of shareholders with more than 5% holding as at 30 June 2017

Alan Mitchell Clegg

Mashale Phumaphi

Thapelo Mokhathi 

Munesh Sharma 
(Grant) Ramnauth 

Kapildeo Joory 

Sipho Alec Ziga 

Arunagirinatha Runghien 

Boikobo Paya 

BLACK PHOENIX LIMITED       73,238,713   27.68%

FNB BOTSWANA NOMINEES (PTY) LTD RE:AA BPOPF EQUITY  68,077,750  25.73%

BAI CO (MTIUS) LTD        16,666,666   6.30%

MR MUNESH SHARMA RAMNAUTH      14,414,894   5.45%

Mr He Liesen         14,019,343   5.30%
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Board of Directors (continued)

Pursuant to the Constitution of the Company, the number of the directors shall be not less than four and more than ten. At 
least two directors shall be residents of Mauritius at all times. Where the number of directors falls below the minimum, the 
remaining directors shall only be permitted to act for the purpose of filling vacancies or calling meeting of shareholders.

Pursuant to the Constitution of the Company, all directors shall retire at each annual meeting. Directors who are required 
to retire at the annual meeting are however eligible to be re-elected at the annual meeting.

Directorship of directors on other companies listed on the BSE and SEM - none

Profile of Directors

ALAN CLEGG (PR.Eng, PMP, FSAIMM) – Chairman

Clegg, a British and South African citizen, is a mining industry professional with over 36 years experienced in mining and 
minerals projects in over 150 countries worldwide. He is a recognised mining technical assessment, reporting and project
valuation expert with experience in stock exchange listings and capital raising. Mr Clegg has been involved with feasibility
studies and the construction of over 60 mining and mineral projects with a combined value in excess of US$8 billion over 
the last 30 years. He currently holds 6 directorships in the mining and energy related sector.

MASHALE PHUMAPHI (MEng, IMC ) – Managing Director

Mashale is a Botswana national who has been focused on sourcing, financing and structuring mineral projects in Africa. 
He was formerly part of the corporate finance team of a London-based natural resources corporate finance and issuing 
house. In addition to conducting investment analysis and research he has raised debt and equity finance for mining 
projects in both Europe and Africa. He began his career as an engineer with Debswana Diamond Company based on 
Jwaneng Mine in Botswana. Mashale holds a Masters of Engineering degree from the University of Sheffield, is a member 
of the United Kingdom Society of Investment Professionals (UKSIP) and is a member of the London based Association 
of Mining Analysts (AMA). Recently he held the position of Director of a London-based Coal Bed Methane Exploration 
company with projects in Botswana.

THAPELO MOKHATHI (BComm) – Finance Director

Thapelo holds a degree in Management Accounting and Executive Program in Mining and Minerals (Wits). He started his
career in the mining industry at Impala Platinum where he is spent 5 years in various financial positions. In 2004 he co-
founded BSC Resources Ltd a Junior Exploration company that grew to have significant assets in Nickel, Copper and Coal 
across South Africa, he was the Financial Director until 2011.

Name of Director in the Company

Alan Mitchell Clegg (Chairman)      Non-Independent and Non-Executive

Mashale Phumaphi (Managing Director)     Executive

Thapelo Mokhathi (Finance Director)     Executive

Kapildeo Joory        Independent and Non–Executive

Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth     Non–Independent and Non–Executive

Sipho Alec Ziga        Independent and Non–Executive

Boikobo Paya        Independent and Non-Executive
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Profile of Directors (Continued)

KAPILDEO JOORY (Chartered Accountant) – Non-Executive Director

Kapildeo is a former co-founder and Executive Director of International Financial Services Limited (IFS), now a wholly 
owned subsidiary of SANNE GROUP PLC (a London Stock Exchange listed company) specializing in international tax, 
business and corporate advisory services. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
and has previously served with three of the Big Four accounting firms in the UK.

Following retirement from IFS in June 2017, Mr Joory continues to sit on boards of numerous companies engaged in 
financial service activities, private equity and hedge funds.

GRANT RAMNAUTH (Dip. PFS, BSc, MBA) – Non-Executive Director

Grant holds a B.Sc. (Hons) from London University and a Joint M.B.A. from Hartford University (USA and France) where 
he specialised in investments. He holds an Investment Advisor license in the offshore financial sector in Mauritius. He 
formally was based in Jersey at HSBC Bank where he conducted business development for international high net worth 
investment advisory and distribution. Currently, as a Senior Partner of St. James’s Place Wealth Management, Grant 
specialises in advising high-net-worth Private Clients and Institutional Investors on offshore investment management. He 
is a Fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors.

SIPHO ALEC ZIGA (LLB) – Non-Executive Director

Sipho Ziga graduated from the University of Botswana with an LLB in 1997 and immediately joined Armstrongs Attorneys, 
as an Attorney in the Commercial Department. He became a Partner in 2004. Currently as a partner, Sipho specialises 
in all disciplines of business law; corporate commercial law, securities and financial services regulations; mining and 
resources law; privatisation and public private partnerships. He has acted as legal advisor to a large number of pre-
imminent Botswana Stock Exchange listed companies and parastatals, and many of the multinationals doing business 
in Botswana on a wide range of corporate issues ranging from regulatory compliance; corporate governance; company 
formations; acquisition; take overs; due diligence reviews; capital raising corporate and trade finance; listings and rights 
issues; schemes of arrangement; banking law; loan finance agreements; negotiable instruments and capital market 
instruments.

BOIKOBO PAYA (BSc, Mphil Geology) – Non-Executive Director

He is former Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Minerals Energy and Water Affairs and is currently Deputy Vice 
Chancellor at the the Botswana International University of Science and Technology. Paya’s prior experience in government 
positions included Project Manager, Mmamabula Coordinating Unit, under the Ministry of Minerals, Energy and Water 
Resources and Director of the Department of Water Affairs, which included responsibility for two major wetlands: the 
Okavango Delta and the Kwando-Linyanti Delta. Paya holds a BSc and an MPhil in geology and has extensive research 
experience. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Debswana, Chairman of Diamond Trading Company Botswana (both 
joint ventures between De Beers and the Botswanan Government), a Non-Executive Director of De Beers and a Director 
of BBKR Productions (Pty) Ltd. In addition, Mr. Paya is a member of the administrative boards of DB Investments SA, 
Debswana Investments SA and De Beers SA. 

Role of the directors

Ultimate control of the Company rests with the Board, while the executive management is responsible for the proper 
management of the Company and execution of the policies and strategic objectives set out by Board. To achieve this, the 
Board is responsible for establishing the objectives of the Company and setting a philosophy for investments, performance 
and ethical standards. Although quarterly Board meetings are recommended every year, only one meeting was called. 
Other decisions were taken by way of written resolution 3 times during the year under review.
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Attendance at board meetings

Board obligations and responsibilities

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring the following functions for the proper functioning of the 
Company:

•  good corporate governance and implementation of the code of corporate practices and conduct as set out in the 
 Code;
•  that the Company performs at an acceptable level and that its affairs are conducted in a responsible and  
 professional manner; and
•  recognition of its responsibilities to all stakeholders.

Although certain responsibilities are delegated to committees or management executives, the Board acknowledges that 
it is not discharged from its obligations in regard to these matters.

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities in the following areas:

•  the adoption of strategic plans and ensuring that these plans are carried out by management;
•  monitoring of the operational performance of the business against predetermined budgets and targets;
•  monitoring the performance of management at both operational and executive level;
•  ensuring that the Company complies with all laws, regulations and codes of business practice; and
•  ensuring a clear division of responsibilities at Board level to ensure a balance of power and authority in terms of  

 Company’s policies.
 
Independence of the directors

The Board’s independence from the executive management team is ensured by the following:

•  separation of the roles of the Chairman and Managing Director;
•  the Board having a balance of executive and non-executive directors;
•  the audit and risk committee, and the remuneration and assessment committee having a majority of non-executive 
 directors;
•  non-executive directors not holding service contracts;
•  all directors having access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary; and
• with prior agreement from the Chairman, all directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice  

concerning the affairs of the Company at the Company’s expense.

Director in the Company Held

Meetings and written resolution of directors

Present

Alan Clegg         4       4

Mashale Phumaphi        4       4

Thapelo Mokhathi        4       2

Kapildeo Joory         4       4

Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth      4       4

Sipho Alec Ziga         4       1

Boikobo Paya         4       1
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Independence of the directors (Continued)

The following non-executive directors chair the various sub committees of the Board:

•  Kapildeo Joory : Audit and Risk
•  Alan Mitchell Clegg : Remuneration and Assessment

Board appraisal

No evaluation of the Board of directors has been carried out during the year under review. The Board is of the opinion that 
each director is contributing effectively and demonstrating commitment to his role.

Audit and risk committee

The primary role of the audit and risk committee is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting & the audit process and to 
ensure that the Company has implemented an effective plan for risk management that will enhance the Company’s ability 
to achieve its strategic objectives.

In pursuing these objectives, the audit and risk committee oversees relations with the external auditors. The committee 
also assists the Board in discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the operation of adequate systems 
and internal control processes, overseeing the preparation of accurate financial reports and statements in compliance 
with all applicable legal requirements and accounting standards, ensuring compliance with good governance practices 
and nomination of external auditors.

As at the end of the financial period, the audit and risk committee comprised of Messrs Kapildeo Joory (Chairman), 
Thapelo Mokhathi, Sipho Alec Ziga and Grant Thornton Mauritius (“auditors”) with the Chairman and Mr Sipho Alec Ziga 
being non-executive directors and Mr Thapelo being the Finance Director of the Company. The committee members 
have unlimited access to all information, documents and explanations required in the discharge of their duties, as do the 
external auditors.

The audit committee has satisfied itself that no breakdown in accounting controls, procedures and systems has occurred 
during the period under review. In fulfilling its responsibility of monitoring the integrity of financial reports to shareholders, 
the audit committee has reviewed accounting principles, policies and practices adopted in the preparation of financial 
information and has examined documentation relating to the annual integrated report and quarterly financial reports. 
The clarity of disclosures included in the financial statements was reviewed by the audit committee, as was the basis for 
significant estimates and judgements.

It is the function of the committee to review and make recommendations to the Board regarding quarterly financial results 
and the integrated report prior to approval by the Board. The audit committee has complied with its legal, regulatory and 
other responsibilities. The audit committee recommended the integrated report to the Board for approval. 

External audit

A key factor that may impair auditors’ independence is a lack of control over non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors.

In essence, the external auditors’ independence is deemed to be impaired if the auditors provide a service which:

•  results in auditing of own work by the auditors;
•  results in the auditors acting as a manager or employee of the Company;
•  puts the auditors in the role of advocate for the Company; or
•  creates a mutuality of interest between the auditors and the Company.
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Independence of the directors (Continued) 

The Company addresses this issue through three primary measures, namely:

•  disclosure of the extent and nature of non-audit services;
•  the prohibition of selected services; and
•  prior approval by the audit committee of non-audit services.

Other safeguards encapsulated in the policy include:

• the external auditors are required to assess periodically, in their professional judgement, whether they are 
independent of the Company;

• the audit committee ensures that the scope of the auditors’ work is sufficient and that the auditors are fairly 
remunerated; and

• the audit committee has primary responsibility for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditors.

The audit committee approved the external auditors’ terms of engagement, scope of work, the annual audit and the 
applicable levels of materiality. Based on written reports submitted, the committee reviewed, with the external auditors, 
the findings of their work and confirmed that all significant matters had been satisfactorily resolved. The committee 
determined that the 2016-2017 audit was completed without any restriction on its scope.

The audit committee has satisfied itself as to the suitability of the external auditors for reappointment for the ensuing year.

Internal audit

The Company does not have a formalised internal audit department but the Board has implemented strong internal control 
and it ensures that the latter is functioning properly and adjusts its control when and where necessary.

Internal control and risk management

The Board of directors ensures that there are proper internal and accounting controls and that the different accounting 
policies and procedures are closely monitored and reviewed as and when appropriate. The Board of directors has also 
the overall responsibility for ensuring that the whole systems of controls, financial and otherwise, in place is sufficient 
and appropriate to enable the Company to carry on business in an orderly and efficient manner, ensure adherence to 
management policies, safeguard assets, and secure as far as possible the completeness and accuracy of records.

The management is responsible for the implementation of internal control and risk management systems under the 
supervision of the Board of directors of the Company to ensure their effectiveness. Such systems must ensure that proper 
accounting records are maintained and that the strategies and policies adopted by the Board are being implemented.

The key risks relevant to the Company are as follows:
 
Industry risks: risks that makes the industry less attractive as a result of changes in (i) the key factors for competition 
success within the industry, including significant opportunities and threats, (ii) the capabilities of existing and potential 
competitors and (iii) the Company’s strengths and weaknesses relative to present and future competitors.

Operational risks: risks defined as risks of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and procedures, 
human error or system failure or from external events e.g. legal risks.
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Internal control and risk management (Continued)

Operational risks are further broken down into:

-  Human resources risks: losses arising from acts inconsistent with employment and health and safety laws.
-  Fraud risks: intentional or fraudulent acts intended to defraud or misappropriate property or circumvent regulations, 
 laws and policies and involving one internal party and/or a third party.
-  Physical risks: losses due to fire, cyclone, explosion, riots or else.
-  Business continuity risks: losses from failed transaction processing and process management, inadequate back-
 ups and loss of data.
-  Reputational risks: losses due to unintentional or negligent failure to meet a professional obligation to specific 
 clients or from the nature or design of a product.
-  Technology risks: risks that hardware and software are not operating as intended thereby compromising the 
 integrity and reliability of data and information and exposing significant assets to potential loss or misuse or 
 exposing the Company’s ability to maintain a high standard in its main business processes.
-  Country risks: risks arising when the political climate in a specific country affects the business environment and 
 impacts on the Company’s objectives and strategies in such a way that the Company may get out of business.
-  Financial risks: exposure to credit, interest rate, liquidity, foreign currency and capital management risks.

The Board of directors ensures that the above risks are managed and kept at an acceptable level. The internal accounting 
team does regular testing aimed at detecting any potential weaknesses in the internal control systems and any likely risk 
of fraud. The human resource department manages human resources risks via proper and adequate job reviews and 
performance evaluation.

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal control. A sound system of internal control is designed to 
manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

Below follows a few of the most important controls in place that the Company deems necessary to safeguard against 
improper acquisition, use and disposal of its assets:

•  Drawdowns on the funding lines are controlled under dual signatory and/or predetermined and approved facsimile  
numbers and e-mail addresses; and

• All instructions for payment expenses are checked and authorised by three signatories from 2 groups of authorized  
signatories. Three separate signatories are required to approve and release these payments.

Remuneration and assessment committee

The Remuneration and Assessment Committee is mandated by the Board to set the remuneration and incentivisation 
of all employees, including executive and non – executive directors and recommend same to the Board of Directors for 
consideration.

Remuneration philosophy of the Board is to benchmark salaries in similar companies to Shumba and taking into 
consideration of the local factors.

As at the end of the financial period, the Remuneration and Assessment Committee comprised of Mr. Alan Mitchell Clegg 
(Chairman), Mr. Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth and Mr. Kapildeo Joory.
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Company secretary

Company Secretary in Mauritius

The Board considered the competence, qualifications and experience of the Company Secretary, International Financial 
Services Limited (“IFS”), and is deemed fit to continue in the role as Company Secretary for the Company. Mr Kapildeo 
Joory was also a director of IFS and a director of the Company and was deemed to have beneficial interest in the Service 
Agreement between the Company and IFS until June 2017. The relationship with the Board has been assessed and is 
considered to be at arm’s length.

Transfer Secretary in Botswana

The Board considered the competence, qualifications and experience of the Transfer Secretary in Botswana, Transaction 
Management Services (Pty) Limited, c/o Corpserve Botswana and is deemed fit to continue in the role as Transfer 
Secretary for the Company. The relationship with the Board has been assessed and is considered to be at arm’s length.

Directors’ interests

A full list of directors’ interests is maintained in the interest register of the Company and the directors certify that the list 
is correct at Board meetings carried out on regular basis. 

Directors abstain themselves from any discussion and decision on matters in which they have a material financial interest. 

Messrs Mashale Phumaphi, Thapelo Mokhathi, Alan Mitchell Clegg, Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth and Kapildeo 
Joory are also shareholders in the Company.

Shareholding:

As at 30 June 2017, the directors had a direct or indirect interest in the Company as tabled below:

Name Shares in the 
Company

Direct 
Interest %

Direct 
Interest %

Alan Mitchell Clegg       6,769,389        Nil        2.56

Mashale Phumaphi       73,238,713        Nil        27.68

Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth    14,414,894        5.45       Nil

Thapelo Mokhathi       6,658,904        Nil        2.52

Kapildeo Joory        2,000,000        0.76       Nil

Total         103,081,900
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Dealing in securities by the directors

Dealing in the Company’s securities by directors and Company’s officials is regulated and monitored as required by the 
BSE Listing Rules and DEM Rules. All directors’ trading must take place exclusively outside the closed periods prescribed 
by the Stock Exchange Regulations and require written authorisation from the Board of directors. The Company maintains 
a closed period from the end of a financial period to the date of publication of the financial results.

Material clauses of the constitution

There are no clauses of the Constitution deemed material enough for special disclosure.

Special resolutions passed

Special Meeting 22 August 2016

 (i)   Issuance of warrants
 (ii)  Waiving of pre-emptive rights on new issue of shares

Name USD

Alan Mitchell Clegg          43,714

Mashale Phumaphi          182,144

Munesh Sharma (Grant) Ramnauth        43,714

Thapelo Mokhathi          112,694

Kapildeo Joory           20,000

Sipho Alec Ziga           20,000

Boikobo Paya           20,000

Total            442,266

Directors’ interests 

Remuneration:

Incentive Warrants:

At the special meeting held on 22 August 2016, the majority of shareholders present voted in favour of issuance of 
warrants at BWP1.18 each to the directors as tabled below:

Name BWPWarrants

Mashale Phumaphi      3,555,833    4,195,883

Thapelo Mokhathi      2,031,904    2,397,647

Alan Clegg       731,486    863,153

Grant Ramnauth      731,486    863,153

Total        7,050,709    8,319,836
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Special resolutions passed (Continued) 

Annual Meeting 22 December 2016
 
 (i)  Waiver of pre-emptive rights on new issue of shares

Communications with stakeholders

The Company is committed to ensuring timely, effective and transparent communication with shareholders and other 
stakeholders through annual integrated and quarterly financial reports, presentations to analysts and press releases. The 
Company has appointed a Public Relation firm in Mauritius to monitor all communications made to the public.

Sustainability

The Company demonstrates a commitment to operate in a sustainable global economy. The Company strives as well 
to make decisions that combine long term profitability with ethical behavior, social justice and environmental care at all 
times.

Ethics

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that policies, procedures and controls are in place so that business is 
conducted honestly, fairly and ethically. Thus, there is the practical application of its corporate values and the concepts of 
honesty and integrity. 

Environmental and health and safety practices

The Company takes into account the best practices in line with the Company’s corporate values and long term objectives 
as far as Social, Environmental and Health and Safety practices are concerned and aims to comply with existing legislative 
and regulatory framework.

Corporate social responsibilities (“CSR”)

The Company supported various community projects and events in Botswana, namely:

•  Sponsored a kit for Botswana National Women Basketball team
•  Donated to Kalahari Conservation Society, a NGO focused on environmental education and conversation research

Political contributions

The Company did not pay out any amount with regard to political contributions during the financial year ended 30 June 
2017.

Related parties transactions

Related parties transactions have been disclosed in Note 21 to the audited financial statements 
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Statement of Compliance with Code of Corporate Governance

Statement of Compliance
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Name of Public Interest Entity (‘PIE’):     Shumba Energy Ltd

Reporting Period:       Financial year ended 30 June 2017

We, the undersigned, being the Directors of Shumba Energy Ltd (the “Company”), confirm, that, to the best of our knowledge, 
the Company has complied with all of its obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance (the 
‘Code’):

………………………………………….       ………………………………………….
Alan Clegg        Thapelo Mokhathi
Chairperson Director       On behalf of the Board
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Certificate from the Secretary to the Members of Shumba Energy Ltd
 

We certify, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that we have filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as 
are required of SHUMBA ENERGY LTD under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 during the financial year ended 30 June 
2017.

..................................................................................................
For International Financial Services Limited
Secretary

Registered Office:

IFS Court, Bank Street
TwentyEight
Cybercity
Ebene 72201
Republic of Mauritius

Date: 27 September 2017
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the members of Shumba Energy Ltd

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shumba Energy Ltd, the “Company”, and its subsidiaries, 
collectively referred to as the “Group”, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements on pages 34 to 65 give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2017, and of their financial performance and their cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and Financial Reporting Act 2004.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in relation to the audit of the consolidated financial statements is as described below.

Risk Description

Exploration assets

We focussed on the exploration assets due to the size of the balance on the consolidated statement of financial position 
and the key judgements, assumptions and estimates used by the Group to assess the recoverability of the costs incurred 
so far. These include reserves and resources estimates, production estimates, economic factors like coal prices on the 
market, the movement in exchange rates, exploration costs to be incurred and the recoverability of the tenement rights. 
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

Exploration assets (Continued)

How audit responded to this matter

Our audit procedures included among others:

• confirmed that tenement rights are still valid and adherence to tenement requirements.

• performed walk-through and test of control to gain an understanding of how and when costs are recognised and 
capitalised in compliance with IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.

• confirmed that management is closely monitoring the progress of the exploration presently undertaken and all 
deviations are addressed.

• ensured that external analyst reports are available in support for all assumptions and estimates used in financial 
forecasts.

• reviewed latest valuation reports as prepared by external professional valuers to determine whether the present values 
of the projects are greater than costs incurred.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon (“Other Information”)

Management is responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises mainly of information included 
under the Corporate Data, Commentary of the Directors, Chairman’s Report and Corporate Governance Report sections, 
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and Financial 
Reporting Act 2004 and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated  financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

(a) Mauritius Companies Act 2001

In accordance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, we report as follows:

•  we have no relationship with, or any interests in, the Company and its subsidiaries other than in our capacity as 
 auditors;

•  we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and

•  in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 
 examination of those records.

(b) Financial Reporting Act 2004

The directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report (the “Report”). Our responsibility is to report 
on the extent of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) as disclosed in the Report and on 
whether the disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code. 

In our opinion, the disclosure in the Report is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

Other matter

Our report is made solely to the members of the Company as a body in accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants

Y NUBEE, FCCA
Licensed by FRC

Date: 27 September 2017

Ebene 72201, Republic of Mauritius
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Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on ____________________________and signed on its behalf by:

__________________       ___________________
Director        Director

The notes on pages 39 to 65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Name 2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

Notes

Assets 
Non-current
Investment in subsidiaries                         7      -              -                 1,890,724        1,839,884
Capital contribution         8                   -                         -               12,585,264      11,385,264
Plant and equipment        9               30,278               33,781                 -                         -
Exploration assets        10         9,949,583         8,600,862                 -                         -
                     9,979,861        8,634,643       14,475,988     13,225,148

Current
Inventories        11               19,856               -                       -                             -
Receivables and prepayments      12             261,871            -                      855,639            828,775
Cash and cash equivalents       13          2,473,623        3,018,829         2,024,170        1,761,265
                      2,755,350        3,018,829         2,879,809        2,590,040

Total assets                   12,735,211      11,653,472      17,355,797      15,815,188

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Stated capital        14       14,497,244       12,745,002       14,497,244      12,745,002
Translation reserves                        518,355             867,681               -                         -
Accumulated losses                   (5,807,562)      (5,525,942)      (1,622,868)      (1,072,095)
Equity attributable to owners of the
parent                     9,208,037         8,086,741        12,874,376      11,672,907
Non-controlling interest       15         (357,091)         (394,705)                   -                        -
                    8,850,946         7,692,036       12,874,376     11,672,907

Liabilities
Non-current
Convertible loan notes       16         1,427,364                -                 1,427,364                  -

Current
Payables and accruals       17         2,456,901         3,960,765         3,054,057        4,142,281
Tax liability        18                 -                             671                -                         -
                     2,456,901           3,961,436         3,054,057       4,142,281

Total liabilities                     3,884,265        3,961,436         4,481,421        4,142,281

Total equity and liabilities                 12,735,211      11,653,472      17,355,097      15,815,188

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2017

27 September 2017

The Group The Company
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss and other Comprehensive Income

Name 2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

Notes

Revenue                         2,687                     -                           -                         -
Cost of sales        11          (2,687)                    -                           -                         -

Expenditure
Professional fees                       132,711              38,893             102,770                9,338
Listing fees                         40,723              29,217                40,723              29,217
Licence fees                            1,750                1,750                  1,750                1,750
Directors’ fees                        114,730             77,360             113,480              77,360
Audit fees                          26,450               20,250               15,950             15,650
Bank charges                            8,465                  9,971                 8,465               6,021
Annual fee to SEM                            3,385                  3,384                 3,385               3,384
Operating expenses                    1,003,706           1,103,107           188,502           149,616
Depreciation          9                9,244                   8,852                        -                       -
                    1,341,164          1,292,784           475,025          292,336

Operating loss                   (1,341,164)     (1,292,784)        (475,025)        (292,336)
Finance costs                         (99,653)         (205,023)           (99,584)                -
Finance income                           35,356              58,572              23,692                 -
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)                     1,155,868       (1,897,973)                  144                 -
Loss before tax                      (249,593)      (3,337,208)       (550,773)        (292,336)
Tax expense        18                -                           (671)                -                         -
Loss for the year                      (249,593)      (3,337,879)       (550,773)        (292,336)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:----

- Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations                  (383,612)            657,698                 -                       -

Total comprehensive loss for the year                   (633,205)      (2,680,181)        (550,773)        (292,336)

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent                     (273,595)       (3,035,097)                 -                        -
Non-controlling interest        15             24,002           (302,782)                -                         - 
                      (249,593)        (3,337,879)               -                         -

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent                     (618,286)       (2,442,966)                -                         -
Non-controlling interest                       (14,919)          (237,215)                -                         -
                      (633,205)       (2,680,181)                -                         -

Loss per share
Basic loss per share       19        (0.00105)          (0.0135)                   -                         -
Diluted loss per share       19        (0.00096)          (0.0131)                   -                         -

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 30 June 2017

The Group The Company
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Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity

The Group Accumulated
losses USD

Translation
reserves USD

Stated capital
USD

At 01 July 2016             12,745,002             867,681                  (5,525,942) 

On dilution of ownership                                                        -                                                 (7,232)                                     48,994 
On derecognition of non-controlling interest                                                                 -                                                    2,597                                   (57,019) 

Issue of shares               1,752,242                                            -                                                 - 
Transactions with the shareholders             1,752,242                                            -                                                 - 

Loss for the year                      -                                                     -                                         (273,595) 
Other comprehensive loss                     -                                             (344,691)                                         - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year                    -                                             (344,691)                                 (273,595) 

At 30 June 2017            14,497,244                                     518,355                            (5,807,562)

At 01 July 2015            11,208,968                                     275,550                            (2,490,845) 
Issue of shares               1,536,034                                             -                                                - 
Transactions with the shareholders             1,536,034                                             -                                                - 
Loss for the year                      -                                                      -                                     (3,035,097) 
Other comprehensive income                     -                                                592,131                                         - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year                    -                                                592,131                              (3,035,097) 

At 30 June 2016             12,745,002                                     867,681                            (5,525,942) 

At 01 July 2016               8,086,741                                  (394,705)                                7,692,036

On dilution of ownership                    41,762                                        48,951                                      90,713
On derecognition of non-controlling interest                (54,422)                                          3,582                                    (50,840)

Issue of shares                1,752,242                                             -                                      1,752,242
Transactions with the shareholders              1,752,242                                             -                                      1,752,242

Loss for the year                (273,595)                                        24,002                                 (249,593)
Other comprehensive loss               (344,691)                                      (38,921)                                (383,612)
Total comprehensive loss for the year               (618,286)                                      (14,919)                                (633,205)

At 30 June 2017               9,208,237                                   (357,091)                              8,850,946

At 01 July 2015               8,993,673                                   (157,490)                              8,836,183
Issue of shares                1,536,034                                            -                                      1,536,034
Transactions with the shareholders              1,536,034                                            -                                      1,536,034
Loss for the year             (3,035,097)                                    (302,782)                            (3,337,879)
Other comprehensive income                  592,131                                        65,567                                   657,698
Total comprehensive loss for the year           (2,442,966)                                   (237,215)                             (2,680,181)

At 30 June 2016               8,086,741                                  (394,705)                               7,692,036

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2017

The Group Total 
USD

Non-controlling
interest USD

Equity attributable
 to owners of the

parent USD
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Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity

The Company Total
USD

Accumulated
losses USD

Stated capital
USD

At 01 July 2016           12,745,002                              (1,072,095)                                11,672,907
Issue of shares              1,752,242                                        -                                             1,752,242

Transactions with the shareholders            1,752,242                                        -                                             1,752,242

Loss for the year                      -                                          (550,773)                                    (550,773)
Other comprehensive income                     -                                                -                                                      -
Total comprehensive loss for the year                    -                                          (550,773)                                   (550,773 )
At 30 June 2017           14,497,244                              (1,622,868)                                12,874,376

At 01 July 2015           11,208,968                                 (779,759)                                10,429,209
Issue of shares              1,536,034                                      -                                               1,536,034

Transactions with the shareholders            1,536,034                                      -                                               1,536,034

Loss for the year                     -                                           (292,336)                                    (292,336)
Other comprehensive income                    -                                              -                                                         -
Total comprehensive loss for the year                   -                                           (292,336)                                   (292,336 )
At 30 June 2016            12,745,002                             (1,072,095)                                11,672,907

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows

Name 2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax                         (249,593)            (3,337,208)             (550,773)             (292,336)

Adjustments for:
Interest expense                              99,653                                                  99,584
Interest income                           (35,356)                 (58,572)                (23,692)                       -
Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses                    (1,155,868)              1,475,868                     (144)                       -
Depreciation                                9,244                      8,852                       -                              -

Operating loss before working capital changes                   (1,331,920)           (1,911,060)              (475,025)            (292,336)
Change in inventories                          (19,856)
Change in receivables and prepayments                       (562,743)                874,034                 (26,864)               (40,716)
Change in payables and accruals                    (1,202,992)              (561,755)           (1,088,080)               117,525
Net cash used in operations                     (3,117,511)           (1,598,781)           (1,589,969)             (215,527)

Tax paid                                 (671)                       -                                -                            -
Net cash used in operating activities                   (3,118,182)            (1,598,781)           (1,589,969)             (215,527)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received                              35,356                  58,572                   23,692                        -
Purchase of plant and equipment                           (3,130)                (35,633)                         -                             -
Expenditure on exploration assets                       (662,485)             (562,352)                         -                             -
Acquisition of investments                                -                               -                               -                       (5,964)
Capital contribution                                 -                               -                 (1,200,000)             (500,000)
Net cash used in investing activities                      (630,259)              (539,413)           (1,176,308)             (505,964)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares                     1,701,402               1,536,034              1,701,402            1,536,034
Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes                    1,327,780                        -                     1,327,780                       -
Net cash from financing activities                     3,029,182               1,536,034              3,029,182            1,536,034

Net change in cash and cash equivalents                    (719,259)               (602,160)                 262,905               814,543
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
the year                        3,018,829               3,415,208              1,761,265               946,722
Exchange differences on cash and cash
equivalents                           174,053                 205,781                        -                             -
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year                     2,473,623              3,018,829              2,024,170            1,761,265

Cash and cash equivalents made up of:
Cash at bank (Note 13)                       2,473,623               3,018,829             2,024,170            1,761,265

Non-cash transactions:
Issue of shares in exchange of investment in subsidiary                          -                                 -                           50,840                      -

Consolidated Statement of Cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2017

The Group The Company
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

1.  General information and statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards  
 

Shumba Energy Ltd, the “Company”, was incorporated on 28 August 2012 in the Republic of Mauritius under the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 as a public company with liability limited by shares. The Company registered 
office is IFS Court, Bank Street, TwentyEight, Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Republic of Mauritius. The Company has 
been listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange on 8 April 2013 and on the Development & Enterprise Market in 
Mauritius on 4 April 2014.

The Company was previously known as Shumba Coal Limited and it changed name to “Shumba Energy Ltd “on 
22 October 2015 as evidenced by a Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name issued by the Registrar of 
Companies.

The Company holds a Category 1 Global Business Licence issued by the Financial Services Commission of 
Mauritius.

The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The principal activity of the Group is the acquisition and development of highly prospective coal exploration 
licences in the Republic of Botswana. In 2016, the Group extended its business activity to include the trading of 
solar energy.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

2.  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

2.1  New and revised standards and interpretations that are effective for annual year beginning on 01 July 2016

In the current year, the following new and revised standards issued by IASB became mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning on 01 July 2016: 

IAS 1, Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation  of Financial Statements) 

• The amendments address perceived impediments to preparers exercising their judgement in presenting 
their financial reports by making the following changes:

• 
• clarification that information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial information, 

materiality considerations apply to the all parts of the financial statements, and even when a standard 
requires a specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply;

• 
• clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can be disaggregated and 

aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements and clarification that an 
entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate as 
single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss; and

• 
• additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that understandability and comparability 

should be considered when determining the order of the notes and to demonstrate that the notes need not 
be presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114 of IAS 1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

2.  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.1  New and revised standards and interpretations that are effective for annual year beginning on 01 July 2016 
 (Continued)

  IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28, Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 
 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

The amendments address issues that have arisen in the context of applying the consolidation exception for  
investment entities by clarifying the following points:

• The exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent entity is available 
to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all of its 
subsidiaries at fair value.

• A subsidiary that provides services related to the parent’s investment activities should not be consolidated if 
the subsidiary itself is an investment entity.

• When applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity investor in an 
investment entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to its 
interests in subsidiaries.

An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the disclosures relating to investment 
entities required by IFRS 12.

IAS 27, Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)

The amendment allows entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates in their separate financial statements.

IAS 16 and IAS 41, Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)

These amendments change the reporting for bearer plants, such as grape vines, rubber trees and oil palms. 
Bearer plants should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant and equipment because their operation 
is similar to that of manufacturing.

IFRS 11, Accounting of Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)

The amendments require an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business 
(as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations) to:

• apply all of the business combinations accounting principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except for those 
principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11; and

• disclose the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations.

The amendments apply both to the initial acquisition of an interest in joint operation, and the acquisition of an 
additional interest in a joint operation (in the latter case, previously held interests are not remeasured).

The amendments apply prospectively to acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activities of the 
joint operations constitute businesses, as defined in IFRS 3, for those acquisitions occurring from the beginning 
of the first period in which the amendments apply. Amounts recognised for acquisitions of interests in joint 
operations occurring in prior periods are not adjusted.
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2.  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.1  New and revised standards and interpretations that are effective for annual year beginning on 01 July 2016

	 IAS	16	and	IAS	38,	Clarification	of	Acceptable	Methods	of	Depreciation	and	Amortisation	(Amendments	to	IAS	
 16 and IAS 38)
 

These amendments clarify that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not  
appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors 
other than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.

IFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts

This standard permits first-time adopters of IFRS to continue to recognise amounts related to rate regulation in 
accordance with their previous GAAP requirements when they adopt IFRS. However, to enhance comparability 
with entities that already apply IFRS and do not recognise such amounts, the standard requires that the effect of 
rate regulation must be presented separately from other items.

Various, Annual Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 Cycle

These improvements include amendments to IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IAS 19: Employee Benefits and IAS 34: Interim Financial 
Reporting.

The Board of directors has assessed the impact of these new and revised standards and concluded that only IAS 
1, Disclosure Initiative (Amendment to IAS 1) has an impact on the disclosures of these consolidated financial 
statements.

2.2  Standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 
 adopted early by the Group

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards and amendments 
to existing standards and interpretations have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective and have not 
been adopted early by the Group.

The Group anticipate that all of the relevant pronouncements, as relevant to the Group’s activities, will be adopted 
in the Group’s accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. 

Information on new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations is provided below:

IAS	12,	Recognition	of	Deferred	Tax	Assets	for	Unrealised	Losses

The focus of the amendments to IAS 12 is to clarify how to account for deferred tax assets related to debt 
instruments measured at fair value, particularly where changes in the market interest rate decrease the fair value 
of a debt instrument below cost. 

IAS	7,	Disclosure	Initiative	(Amendments	to	IAS	7)

The amendments are designed to improve the quality of information provided to users of financial statements 
about changes in an entity’s debt and related cash flows (and non-cash changes). 

The amendments respond to requests from investors for improved disclosures about an entity’s financing 
activities.The Disclosure Initiative itself is in part a reaction to the growing clamour over disclosure overload in... 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

2.  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.2  Standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 
 adopted early by the Group (Continued)

...financial statements. It consists of a number of projects, both short- and medium-term, and ongoing activities 
that explore how presentation and disclosure principles and requirements in existing Standards can be improved.

 IAS	40,	Transfer	of	Investment	Property	(Amendments	to	IAS	40)

Under these amendments an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only 
when, there is evidence of a change in use. A change of use occurs if property meets, or ceases to meet, the 
definition of investment property. A change in management’s intentions for the use of a property by itself does 
not constitute evidence of a change in use.

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It replaces IAS 11, ‘Construction contracts’, IAS 18, 
‘Revenue’ and related interpretations.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments (2014)

The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 
measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit and loss.

IFRS 4, Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 4)

The amendments in Applying IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (Amendments to 
IFRS 4) provide two options for entities that issue insurance contracts within the scope ofIFRS 4.

IFRS	2,	Classification	and	Measurement	of	Share-based	Payment	Transactions	(Amendments	to	IFRS	2)

The amendments bring clarification on the following matters:

•     the accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a performance condition;
•     the classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement features; and
•     the accounting for modifications of share-based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

IFRS	16,	Leases

The new standard requires lessees to account for leases ‘on-balance sheet’ by recognising a ‘right of use’ asset 
and a lease liability. It will affect most companies that report under IFRS and are involved in leasing, and will have 
a substantial impact on the financial statements of lessees of property with high value equipment.

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides a more uniform 
measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to 
achieve the goal of a consistent, principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS  4, 
Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

2.  Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.2  Standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 
 adopted early by the Group (Continued)

 IFRIC	22,	Foreign	Currency	Transactions	and	Advance	Consideration

IFRIC 22 clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advanceconsideration in 
a foreign currency.

  IFRIC	23,	Uncertainty	over	Income	Tax	Treatments
 

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 
tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12.

Management has yet to assess the impact of the above standards, amendments and interpretation on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

3  Summary of accounting policies

3.1 Overall considerations

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and 
measurement bases summarised below.

3.2  Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 
2017. The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The subsidiaries 
have a reporting date of 30 June.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised 
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset 
sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. 
Amounts reported in the financial statements of the subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

Non-controlling interest, presented as part of equity, represents the portion of a subsidiaries profit or loss and 
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries 
between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. 

3.3  Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred 
by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any 
asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements



43Shumba Energy Ltd Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.3  Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless 
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the 
sum of (a) fair value of consideration transferred, (b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and (c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date 
fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, 
the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

3.4  Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as 
hedging instruments, are classified as loans and receivables.

All financial assets of the Group except those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment 
at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial 
assets.

The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and expense is recognised 
in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

Loans	and	receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The 
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.4  Financial instruments (Continued)

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective 
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not considered to be individually 
impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region of 
a counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics. The impairment lossestimate is then based on recent 
historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.

 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include convertible loan notes and, payables and accruals.

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges on financial liabilities are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and included within finance costs.

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.5  Investments in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment charges in the separate financial statements. 
Where the carrying amount of the investment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount and the difference is charged to statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. On disposal of the investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount is charged or credited in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

3.6  Plant and equipment

The cost of an item of plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

•  it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and
•  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued) 

3.6  Plant and equipment (Continued)

Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value. 

Plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of items of plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item    Average useful life

Furniture and fittings  10 years
Office equipment  10 years
IT equipment   4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting 
estimate. 

The gain or loss arising from the de recognition of an item of plant and equipment is included in profit or loss. The 
gain or loss arising from the de recognition is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if 
any, and the carrying amount of the item.

3.7  Exploration assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditure include costs associated with exploration and evaluation activity as well 
as cost of procurement of tenement rights for prospecting mineral resources. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised on an area of interest basis. An intangible asset in the form 
of exploration asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Exploration assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on exploration on the prospecting stage on tenements are capitalised. Expenditure, evaluation and 
development expenditure incurred are accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These costs 
are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the production of mineral 
resources from each respective area. The costs are also carried forward, where activities in the area have not yet 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest is amortised over the life of 
the area according to the rate of depreciation of the economically recoverable reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to the area of interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued) 

3.7  Exploration assets (Continued) 

The exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalisation ceases when the Board of Directors concludes that the 
project is capable of commercial production whereupon accumulated costs are amortised on a unit of production 
basis.

3.8  Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the First In First Out 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business less any applicable 
selling expenses.

3.9  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank, fixed deposits and demand deposit, together with other 
short-term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are readily 
convertible into known  amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

3.10  Equity and reserves and dividend payments
 

Stated capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 

Translation reserves comprise of foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of financial 
statements of the Group’s foreign entity. 

Accumulated losses include all current and prior years’ results as disclosed in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in liabilities when the dividends have been 
approved by the Board prior to the reporting date.

3.11  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation has been made. At the time of the effective payment, the 
provision is deducted from the corresponding expenses.

All known risks at reporting date are reviewed in detail and provision is made when necessary.

3.12  Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.13  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows: 

• actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any 
temporary investment of those borrowings.

• weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose 
of obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowings costs 
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred, and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended 
use or sale are complete.

  Plant and equipment

 All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

3.14  Taxation

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting years, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on 
taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Calculation of current tax 
is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
date in the respective jurisdiction where the entity is incorporated.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to 
their respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible 
temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future 
operating results which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use 
of any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided in full.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.14  Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off current tax 
assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense in profit or 
loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in 
which case the related deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity,
respectively.

3.15  Foreign currency

 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD), which is also the functional 
currency of the parent company.

  Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Group, using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items denominated in foreign 
currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using 
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

 Foreign operations

In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group entities with 
a functional currency other than the USD are translated into USD upon consolidation. The functional currency of 
the overseas subsidiary has remained unchanged during the reporting year.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into USD at the closing rate at the reporting date.  
Income and expenditure have been translated into USD at the average rate over the reporting year.

Exchange differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency 
translation reserves in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences 
recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

The closing and average exchange rates for the year ended 30 June 2017 were as follows:

USD

BWP/USD (Closing)            0.09686

BWP/USD (Average)            0.09363
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.16  Related parties

A related party is a person or company where that person or company has control or joint control of the reporting 
company; has significant influence over the reporting company; or is a member of the key management personnel 
of the reporting company or of a parent of the reporting company.

3.17  Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. When an indication of an impairment lossexists, 
the carrying amount of the asset is assessed and is written down to its recoverable amount.

The impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

3.18  Employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 
paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in 
the year in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

3.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, excluding taxes, rebates and 
discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, the costs incurred can be measured reliably 
and the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectibility is in doubt.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

3.20  Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year.

3.21  Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.21  Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Significant	management	judgement

The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that
have the most significant effect on the consolidated financial statement. 

Determination	of	functional	currency

The determination of the functional currency of the Group is critical since recording of transactions and exchange 
differences arising therefrom are dependent on the functional currency selected. The directors have considered 
those factors and have determined that the functional currency of the Group is the USD.

Income taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in jurisdictions where each company is 
incorporated. Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determinations is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the year in which such determination is made.

Contingent	liabilities

Management applies its judgement to facts and advice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other 
advisors in assessing if an obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgement application is 
used to determine if the obligation is recognised as a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.

Coal reserve and resource estimates

Coal reserves are estimates of the amount of coal that can be economically and legally extracted from the 
Group’s mining properties. The Group estimates its coal reserves and mineral resources based on information 
compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological data on the size, depth and shape of 
the coal body. Such analysis requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The estimation of 
recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, 
future capital requirements, and production costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in 
estimating the size and grade of the coal body. Changes in the reserves or resource estimates may impact upon 
the carrying value of exploration assets, mine properties, plant and equipment, recognition of deferred tax assets, 
and depreciation and amortisation charges. Depreciation and amortisation charges in profit or loss may change 
where the useful life of the related assets change. The recognition and carrying value of deferred income tax 
assets may change due to changes in the judgements regarding then existence of such assets and in estimates 
of the likely recovery of such assets.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.21  Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Production start date

The Group assesses the stage of each mine under construction to determine when a mine moves into the 
production stage being when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The criteria 
used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature of each mine development project, 
such as the complexity of a plant and its location. The Group considers various relevant criteria to assess when 
the production phases is considered to commence and all related amounts are reclassified from ‘Mines under 
construction’ to ‘Exploration assets’ and ‘plant and equipment’. Some of the criteria used will include, but are not 
limited to, the following:

• Level of capital expenditure incurred compared to the original construction cost estimates
• Completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment
• Ability to produce in saleable form (within specifications)
• Ability to sustain ongoing production

When a mine development project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain mine development 
costs ceases and costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of inventory or expensed, except for costs 
that qualify for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions or improvements, underground mine development 
or mineable reserve development. It is also at this point that depreciation / amortisation commences.

Recognition of deferred tax asset

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability of the 
Group’s future taxable income against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Going concern

The directors have exercised significant judgement in assessing that the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements on a going concern basis is appropriate. In making this assessment, factors like current 
financial position and financial performance of the Group as well as future business prospects, future profits and 
cash flows have been considered.

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

Inventories

The directors estimate the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology 
or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.
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3  Summary of accounting policies (Continued)

3.21  Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in 
determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely either from future exploitation or sale or 
where activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. 
These estimates directly impact the point of deferral of exploration and evaluation expenditure. The deferral 
policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events or circumstances, 
in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Estimates and assumptions 
made may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes 
available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalised is written off in profit or 
loss in the period when the new information becomes available.

Useful	lives	of	depreciable	assets

The estimates of useful lives as translated into depreciation rates are detailed in plant and equipment policy in 
the consolidated financial statements. These rates and residual lives of the assets are reviewed annually taking 
cognisance of the forecasted commercial and economic realities and through benchmarking of accounting 
treatments in the industry.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher 
of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumption by management may change which may then impact 
these estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash 
flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected 
future cash flows used to determine the value in use of assets are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including supply demand, together with 
economic factors such as exchange rates, inflation and interest.

	Loans	and	receivables

The Group assesses its loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting date. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to whether there 
is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, 
adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting 
date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio.
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4 Financial instrument risk
 
 Risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category are summarised below:

 
 

The Group’s risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors and focuses on 
actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial markets.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets and derivatives for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options. 

The most significant financial risk to which the Group and the Company are exposed are described below.

USD

Name 2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Non-current
Capital contribution      -   -   12,585,264  11,385,264
Current
Receivables      222,520   -   833,432   816,213
Cash and cash equivalents     2,473,623  3,018,829  2,024,170  1,761,265
      2,696,143  3,018,829  2,857,602  2,577,478

Total financial assets     2,696,143  3,018,829  15,442,866  13,962,742

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Non-current
Convertible loan notes     1,427,364  -   1,427,364  -

Current
Payables and accruals     2,456,901  3,960,765  3,054,057  4,142,284
Total financial liabilities     3,884,265  3,960,765  4,481,421  4,142,284

The Group The Company
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4 Financial instrument risk (Continued)
 
 Risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

4.1 Market risk analysis
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Group’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising
the return.

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from its currency exposures, primarily with respect to the 
Botswana Pula (BWP). Consequently, the Group is exposed to the risk that the exchange rates of the USD relative 
the BWP may change in a manner which has material effect on the reported value of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities which are in BWP. The Group does not use any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

The foreign currency profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments is as follows:

  

 

 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of loss and equity in regards to the Company’s and the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities and the USD/BWP exchange rate “all other things being equal”.

It assumes a 9% change of the USD/BWP exchange rate for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016:10%).

This percentage has been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 
months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s and the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments 
held at the reporting date.

If the BWP had weakened against the USD by 9% (2016: 10%), then this would have the following impact:

USD       2,148,493  1,766,756  2,857,602  2,577,478
BWP       547,650  1,252,073  12,585,264  11,385,264
      2,696,143  3,018,829  15,442,866  13,962,742

USD       2,249,904  3,960,765  2,723,366  28,596
BWP       1,634,361  -   1,758,055  4,113,688
      3,884,265  3,960,765  4,481,421  4,142,284

At 30 June      97,804  (125,207)  (974,449)  (727,158)

The Group

The Group

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

The Company

The Company

2016
USD

2016
USD

2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD
Loss and equity Loss and equity
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4 Financial instrument risk (Continued)

4.1  Market risk analysis (Continued)

 Foreign currency sensitivity (Continued)

 If the BWP had strengthened against the USD by 9% (2016: 10%), then this would have the following impact:

 Interest rate sensitivity
 

The Group’s interest bearing financial liabilities consist of convertible loan notes which carry interest at fixed rate 
and are therefore not exposed to any interest rate risk.

The Group’s interest bearing financial assets include its bank balances. Interest on its bank balances is based on 
market interest rates. At 31 March 2017, the bank balance stood at USD 2,473,623 (2016: USD 3,018,829) and 
interest earned during the year was insignificant. Therefore any change in the market interest rate would impact 
marginally on the Group’s operating cash flows.

4.2 Credit risk analysis

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to credit risk are limited to the carrying amount of financial assets 
recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

 

 The Group transacts with reputable banks in order to minimise its credit risk on its bank balances.

At 30 June      (97,804)  (125,207)  974,449   (727,158)

The Group The Company

2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD
Loss and equity Loss and equity

Assets
Non-current
Capital contribution      -   -   12,585,264  11,385,264

Current
Receivables      222,520   -   833,432   816,213
Cash and cash equivalents     2,473,623  3,018,829  2,024,170  1,761,265
      2,696,143  3,018,829  2,857,602  2,577,478

Total       2,696,143  3,018,829  15,442,866  13,962,742

The Group The Company

2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD
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4 Financial instrument risk (Continued)

4.3 Liquidity risk analysis
 

Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the Group not being able to meet its financial obligations as and when they 
fall due.

The Group manages liquidity risk by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term 
financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business.

The Group maintains sufficient cash at the bank to meet short term liquidity requirements. Funding for long term 
liquidity needs is secured by loans from related parties and raising funds on the relevant stock exchanges.

The following are the contractual maturities of the financial liabilities:

  

 

5. Capital risk management policies and procedures
 

The Group’s capital management objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Group aims to maintain a reasonable gearing ratio, which would allow it to achieve its investment objectives.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as 
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, that is, equity and financial 
liabilities. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid, reduce capital, issue new shares, or sell 
assets to reduce debts.

The Group was not geared for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017.

 

The Group
 
Convertible loan notes     -   -   1,427,364  -
Payables and accruals     2,456,901  3,960,765  -   -
      2,456,901  3,960,765  1,427,364  -

The Company

Convertible loan notes     -   -   1,427,364  -
Payables and accruals     3,054,057  4,142,284  -   -
      3,054,057  4,142,284  1,427,364  -

Within1 year More than1 year

2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD
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6.  Fair value measurement

 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at their carrying amounts which 
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets and non financial liabilities

The Company’s non-financial assets consist of investment in subsidiaries and prepayments for which fair value  
measurement is not applicable since these are not measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis 
in the statement of financial position.

The Group’s non-financial assets consist of plant and equipment and exploration assets which are measured 
using the cost model and, inventories and prepayments for which fair value measurement is not applicable.

At the reporting date, the Company and the Group did not have any non-financial liabilities.

7. Investment in subsidiaries
 
 Unquoted and at cost

 Details of the investments are as follows:

The Company has a 100% (2016: 100%) shareholding in Shumba Resources Ltd and Shumba Coal Trading Ltd 
and these are considered as subsidiaries in accordance with IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements.

The cost of the investments is regarded as a reflection of fair values.

The principal activity of Shumba Resources Ltd is to hold investment in Sechaba Natural Resources (Proprietary) 
Limited.

The principal activity of Shumba Coal Trading Ltd is to trade in coal.

USD
Name 2016

USD
2017
USD

At start of the year         1,839,884   1,833,920
Additions during the year        50,840    5,964
At end of the year         1,870,724   1,839,884

Investee 
company

Country of
incorporation

Type of
shares

Cost
2017 USD

Cost
2016 USD

% held

Shumba Resources Ltd  Republic of Mauritius Ordinary shares  100%  1,884,760  1,833,920
Shumba Coal Trading Ltd  Republic ofMauritius Ordinaryshares  100%   5,964   5,964
         1,890,724  1,890,724  1,839,884
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7. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Indirect holding through Shumba Resources Ltd:
 
 

The principal activity of Sechaba Natural Resources Limited is the acquisition and development of highly
prospective coal exploration licences in the Republic of Botswana.  

8.  Capital contribution

 
Capital contribution represents funds advanced by the Company to its subsidiary for financial and operational
purposes and for assets development.

9.  Plant and equipment

Sechaba Natural Resources (Proprietary) Limited   Botswana  Ordinary shares         100%          359
Sechaba Natural Resources (Proprietary) Limited   Botswana  Non-equity          -          2,423,995
Total                    2,424,354

At start of the year         11,385,264   10,885,264
Additions during the year        1,200,000   500,000
At end of the year         12,585,264   11,385,264

Cost
At 01 July 2016     11,149   30,493   7,010   1,320   49,972
Additions during the year    431   -   2,699   -   3,130
Exchange differences    946   2,548   679   110   4,283
At 30 June 2017     12,526   33,041   10,388   1,430   57,385

Depreciation
At 01 July 2016     4,731   6,099   4,629   732   16,191
Charge for the year     1,204   6,388   1,534   118   9,244
Exchange differences    437   730   440   65   1672
At 30 June 2017     6,372   13,217   6,603   915   27,107

Net book values
At 30 June 2017     6,154   19,284   3,785   515   30,278

Investee 
company

Country of
incorporation

Type of
shares

Cost
2017 USD

% held

2016
USD

2017
USD

The Group Furniture 
& fittings 
USD

Motor 
vehicles 
USD

Office 
equipment 
USD

Total 
USD

IT 
equipment 
USD
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9.  Plant and equipment (Continued)

10. Exploration assets

 
 

(i)  Exploration assets which relate to intangible assets under development represent:

• cost of procurement of tenement rights for prospecting certain mineral resources in specified geographical 
area; and

• accumulated costs in connection with undertaking of various activities involving carrying out and assessment 
of technical feasibility as well as commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources, available as 
mining reserves in the area of interests for which the Group has acquired the tenement rights.

Name 2016
USD

2017
USD

Cost
At 01 July         8,600,862   9,059,939
Additions during the year        662,485    592,548
Exchange differences        686,236    (1,051,625)
At 30 June         9,949,583   8,600,862

Cost
At 01 July 2015     11,292   -   5,595   1,503   18,390
Additions during the year    1,295   32,130   2,208   -   35,633
Exchange differences    (1,438)   (1,637)   (793)   (183)   (4,051)
At 30 June 2016     11,149   30,493   7,010   1,320   49,972

Depreciation
At 01 July 2016     4,164   -   4,000   704   8,868
Charge for the year     1,132   6,426   1,175   119   8,852
Exchange differences    (565)   (327)   (546)   (91)   (1,529)
At 30 June 2016     4,731   6,099   4,629   732   16,191

Net book values
At 30 June 2016     6,418   24,394   2,381   588   33,781

The Group Furniture 
& fittings 
USD

Motor 
vehicles 
USD

Office 
equipment 
USD

Total 
USD

IT 
equipment 
USD
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10.  Exploration assets (Continued)

(ii)  The following table states the details of all tenements as at 30 June 2017:
 
 

Licence PL 053/2005 had an initial expiry date of 31 March 2017 and it has been renewed by the Department of 
Mines of Botswana on 28 August 2017 for a period of 2 years commencing on 01 October 2017 and ending on 
30 September 2020.

(iii)  The directors have assessed whether the exploration assets and prospecting licences are still valid and concluded 
that based on independent reports dated 09 September 2016 and 13 December 2016 from KPMG South Africa on 
the Sechaba Independent Power Producer (SIPP) project and Mabesekwa Export Independent Power Producer 
(MEIPP) project respectively, the explorations assets and prospecting licences have not suffered any impairment 
in value since these projects are still commercially viable. 

11.  Inventories

 The cost of inventories expensed during the year amounted to USD 2,687.

12.  Receivables and prepayments

 
 

 The carrying amounts of receivables and prepayments approximate their fair values.

13.  Cash and cash equivalents

 

2016
USD

2017
USD

Licence number Size (Km2) Expiry date

PL 428/2009         101.90    31 December 2018
PL 308/2014         988.00    30 September 2017
PL 053/2005         247.40    30 September 2020
PL 218/2016         42.00    30 September 2018

Finished goods (coal)         19,856    -

Receivables      222,520   -   833,432   816,213
Prepayments      39,351   -   22,207   12,562
      261,871   -   855,639   828,775

The Group The Company
2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD

Cash at bank in:
United Stated Dollar (USD)     2,098,788  1,766,756  2,024,170  1,761,265
Botswana Pula (BWP)     374,835   1,252,073  -   -
      2,473,623  3,018,829  2,024,170  1,761,265

The Group The Company
2016 USD2016 USD 2017 USD2017 USD
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14.  Stated capital

14.1 Issued and fully paid:

 The movement during the year is as follows: 

 
 473,500 shares for a value of USD 50,840 were exchanged for additional shares acquired in Shumba Resources 
 Ltd (Note 7).

14.2  Warrants

During the previous reporting period and pursuant to a board meeting dated 29 September 2015, the Board had 
resolved to issue 7,050,709 warrants to founding directors of the Company to subscribe for ordinary shares of the 
Company at any time during the exercise period at an exercise price of BWP 1.18 each.

During the year under review and pursuant to a board meeting dated 20 April 2017, the Board has resolved to issue 
18,367,962 warrants to the below holders to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company at any time during the 
exercise period at the exercise price of BWP 1.06 each.

As at the date of this report, the directors have not yet exercised their rights to the warrants. 

 Details of warrants:

 

The Company applied for 1,313,612 shares to be issued on the stock exchange but same were not yet listed as 
at 30 June 2017.

USD

Mashale Phumaphi        4,423,958  3,555,833  7,979,791
Thapelo Mokhathi        4,423,958  2,031,904  6,455,862
Alan Clegg        4,423,959  731,486   5,155,445
Grant Ramnauth        4,423,959  731,486   5,155,445
Thamang Thabolo        572,128   -   572,128
Priscillah Gaonyyadiwe Sengwatse      100,000   -   100,000
Total warrants        18,367,962  7,050,709  25,418,671

2016
USD

2017
USD

263,290,637 shares at no par value (2016: 247,465,428 shares at no par value)    14,497,244   12,745,002

At 01 July          12,745,002   11,208,968
Issue of shares          1,752,242   1,536,034
At 30 June          14,497,244   12,745,002

2016
USD

2017
USD

Name 2017 
Warrants
(Number)

2016 
Warrants
(Number)

Total
(Number)
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15.  Non-controlling interest

16.  Convertible loan notes

 
During the year under review, the Company issued convertible loan notes for an amount of USD 1,327,780 (BWP 
14,000,000) which carries interest at the rate of 10% compounded per annum and matured by end of September 
2018 (maturity date).

The Company has an option to settle the convertible loan notes by way of issuance of new shares of the Company. 
If the conversion option is exercised, the new shares to be issued shall be priced at 10% discount to the weighted 
average traded price of the Company’s shares over the 90 trading days prior to maturity date. In accordance with 
IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, the Convertible Loan Notes met the criteria of a financial liability.

17.  Payables and accruals
 

 
The carrying values of payables and accruals approximate their fair values at the reporting date. Included in 
other payables is an amount of USD 2,700,000 (2016: USD 4,400,000) which is secured by the Daheng Licence. 
 

2016
USD

2016
USD

2016
USD

2016
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

2017
USD

The Group The Company

At start of the year          (394,705)  (157,490)
On dilution of ownership         48,951   -
On de-recognition of non-controlling interest       3,582   -
Share of profit/(loss) for the year        24,002   (302,782)
Share of translation reserves for the year       (38,921)   65,567
At end of the year          (357,091)  (394,705)

Issued during the year         1,327,780  -
Interest expense          99,584   -
At 30 June          1,427,364  -

Other payables       2,408,191  3,939,672  3,030,691  4,121,188
Accruals        48,710   21,093   23,366   21,093
       2,456,901  3,960,765  3,054,057  4,142,281
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18.  Taxation

(i)		 The	Company

The Company is, under current laws and regulations, liable to pay income tax on its net income at a rate of 15%. 
The Company is, however, entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of actual foreign tax suffered and 80% 
of the Mauritius tax payable in respect of its foreign source income thus reducing its maximum effective tax rate 
to 3%.

A reconciliation of the actual income tax expense based on accounting profit and the actual income tax expense 
is as follows:

(ii)		 Subsidiaries	incorporated	in	Republic	of	Mauritius

(a) Shumba Resources Ltd is liable to income tax at the rate of 15% on its net income subject to a tax credit equivalent 
to the higher of actual foreign tax suffered and 80% of Mauritius tax payable in respect of its foreign source 
income, thus reducing its maximum effective tax rate of 3%. The subsidiary has no income tax liability at the 
reporting date (2016 : USD 671).

(b)   Shumba Coal Trading Ltd holds a Category 2 Global Business Licence, and by virtue of this licence the Company 
is exempt from income tax in Mauritius.

(iii)		 Subsidiary	incorporated	in	Botswana	(Sechaba	Natural	Resources	(Proprietary)	Limited)

The above subsidiary has no income tax liability due to tax losses carried forward. The estimated tax losses 
available for set off against future taxable income amounted to USD 10,140,834 (2016: USD 6,719,286). These 
losses can be carried forward without any limitation of time until there are taxable profits, as they do not fall away. 
The subsidiary has not recognised deferred tax assets as it is still proceeding with exploration activities and has 
not begun to generate revenues.

USD

No. of shares 
2016

No. of shares 
2017

Weighted average number of shares used in basic loss per share    259,215,960  237,528,442
         
Shares deemed to be issued for warrants and options     25,418,671   7,050,709
Weighted average number of shares used in diluted loss per share    284,634,631   244,579,951

2016
USD

2017
USD

Loss before tax         (550,773)   (292,336)

Tax @ 15%         (82,616)    (43,850)
Impact of:           -
Non-deductible expenses        (3,554)   375
Item outside scope of taxation       86,183   -
Deferred tax asset not recognised       (21)    -
Tax expense         8   43,475
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20.  Consolidation

Details regarding the Company’s subsidiary, its total assets and liabilities at 30 June 2017, and revenue and loss 
for the year then ended are as follows:

21.  Related party transactions

 The nature, volume of transactions and balances with the related parties are as follows:

 
 

One director of the Company, Mr Kapildeo Joory, is deemed to have beneficial interests in the Service Agreement 
between the Company and the Administrator and Secretary. Another director of the Company, Mr Sipho Alec Ziga, 
is deemed to have interests in the Company, through his firm Armstrong Attorneys, which provide legal services 
to the Company.

22.  Events after the reporting period

 Subsequent to the reporting date, the following events took place:

(i) Delisting from the Development & Enterprise Market

A core fiduciary responsibility of the Board is to ensure the recognition of the value created through deployment 
of shareholders funds creating return on investment.  However, despite Shumba Energy Ltd having been actively 
investing its shareholders’ funds and growing its net asset value substantially over the last three years since 
listing on the Development & Enterprise Market (“DEM”) in April 2014, less than 1% of shares traded has been 
effected on the DEM.  In contrast, over 99% of trades has occurred in shares quoted on the Botswana Stock 
Exchange (“BSE”). The market in Mauritius did not have an in-depth appreciation of the mining industry and the 
Company’s significant achievement as well as progress in growing its net asset value. 

Shumba Coal
Trading Ltd

Shumba Resources
Ltd

Country of incorporation      Republic of Mauritius   Republic of Mauritius
Proportion of ownership interest     100%     100%
Activity of subsidiary      Investment holding    Trading of coal
Total assets       USD 10,672,300    USD 6,181
Total liabilities       USD 533,213    USD 23,401
Revenues       -     -
Profit/(loss) for the year      USD 194,301    USD (7,481)

Subsidiary    Capital contribution (Note 8)   1,200,000  12,585,264  11,385,264
Subsidiary    Receivable (Note 12)   6,866   823,079   816,213
Subsidiary    Payables (Note 17)    217,003   (338,191)  (121,188)
Key management personnel   Director fees    113,480   20,000   -

Nature of
relationship

Nature of
transaction

Volume of 
transaction
USD

Office 
equipment 
USD

Debit/(credit)
balances at
30 June 2017 
USD
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(i) Delisting from the Development & Enterprise Market

The net impact of the arbitrage, that is, the drag of effective ‘no-trade’ on DEM versus BSE has resulted in little  
increase in the stock value over the period of the dual listing, thus having a negative impact on shareholders’  
value. 

Accordingly, pursuant to a special meeting of the shareholders held on 27 July 2017 and a communique issued by 
the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd on 18 August 2017, the cancellation of the Company’s shares from the DEM 
was approved as from market close on 28 August 2017.

Few shareholders who still held shares on the DEM at the date of cancellation of the DEM listing, had their shares 
mandatorily moved to the BSE and held on their behalf by the Company in an omnibus account on the Central 
Securities Depository Company of Botswana Limited (“CSDB”) pending the opening of a CSDB account in their 
name.

(ii)  Acquisition of investments in Hodges Morupule Mauritius Limited

An agreement has been reached with Hodges Resources Limited for the acquisition of all the shares held by the 
latter in Hodges Morupule Mauritius Limited which has an effective interest of 75% in the Morupule South 
Project.

Morupule South Project has 2.45 billion tons of JORC (Joint Ore Reserves Committee) compliant resources, of 
which 1.2 billion tons are amenable to open cut mining with initial waste to coal strip ratios of under 2 to 1 which 
result in very low cost coal, comparably lower than other Southern African mines.

The acquisition remains subject to the approval of the relevant regulatory authorities in Botswana including the 
Minister of Minerals, Energy and Water Resources approving the transfer of the Prospective Rights.

The salient terms of the acquisition are as follows:

• Payment of USD 1.4 million to Hodges Resources Limited;
• Payment of USD 1.5 million on the first year’s anniversary from the date on which mining commences; and
• Payment of a gross sales royalty of 1% of sales revenue generated from the sale of coal from the Morupule 

South  Project to Hodges Resources Limited.
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